
There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the 
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact 
Philippa Turvey on 01733 452460 as soon as possible.

AB
PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 2 DECEMBER 2014
1.30 PM

Bourges/Viersen Rooms - Town Hall

AGENDA
Page No

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Declarations of Interest

At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification “ that has been disclosed to the Solicitor to the Council. 
Members must also declare if they are subject to their party group whip in 
relation to any items under consideration.

3. Members' Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward 
Councillor

4. Minutes of the Meeting Held on 4 November 2014 3 - 10

5. Development Control and Enforcement Matters

5.1 14/01780/FUL - 55 Wisbech Road, Thorney, Peterborough, PE6 
0SA

11 - 24

5.2 14/01789/FUL - Land To The North Of 29 Maxey Road, 
Helpston, Peterborough

25 - 32

6. CIL Update Report 33 - 36

Public Document Pack



Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours

In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape 
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral.  The duty Beadle will assume 
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this 
responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.

Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take photographs and use 
social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the public. A protocol on this facility is 
available at: 

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recordi
ng.pdf

Committee Members:

Councillors: C Harper (Chairman), L Serluca (Vice Chairman), G Casey, P Hiller, N North, 
J Stokes, Sylvester, S Martin, D Harrington and C Ash

Substitutes: Councillors: B Rush, N Shabbir and B Saltmarsh

Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Philippa Turvey on telephone 01733 
452460 or by email – philippa.turvey@peterborough.gov.uk

CASE OFFICERS:

Planning and Development Team: Nicholas Harding, Lee Collins, Andrew Cundy, Paul Smith, 
Mike Roberts, Louise Lewis, Janet Maclennan, Astrid 
Hawley, David Jolley, Louise Lovegrove, Vicky Hurrell, 
Amanda McSherry, Sam Falco, Matt Thomson, Chris 
Edwards, Michael Freeman

Minerals and Waste: Theresa Nicholl, Alan Jones

Compliance: Nigel Barnes, Anthony Whittle, Karen Cole, Julie Robshaw

NOTES:

1. Any queries on completeness or accuracy of reports should be raised with the Case Officer 
or Head of Planning, Transport and Engineering Services as soon as possible.

2. The purpose of location plans is to assist Members in identifying the location of the site.  
Location plans may not be up-to-date, and may not always show the proposed development.  

3. These reports take into account the Council's equal opportunities policy but have no 
implications for that policy, except where expressly stated.

4. The background papers for planning applications are the application file plus any documents 
specifically referred to in the report itself.

5. These reports may be updated orally at the meeting if additional relevant information is 
received after their preparation.

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf


AB
    MINUTES OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH ON 4 NOVEMBER 2014

Members Present: Councillors Serluca (Vice-Chair), Casey, Hiller, North, Rush, Stokes, 
Sylvester, Martin, Harrington and Ash.

Officers Present:  Nick Harding, Head of Development and Construction
Jez Tuttle, Senior Engineer (Development)
Simon Ireland, Principal Engineer (Highway Control)
Ruth Lea, Planning and Highways Lawyer
Hannah Vincent, Planning and Highways Lawyer
Pippa Turvey, Senior Governance Officer

1. Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Harper. Councillor Rush was in 
attendance as a substitute.

2. Declarations of Interest

Councillor Hiller declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda item 6 as he would be 
involved in later decision making, and would not be voting on the item.

Councillor Rush declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda item 5.2 as Ward 
Councillor, however he had not been involved in the application and his position would 
not impact upon his decision.

3.    Members’ Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward Councillor

No Member Declarations of intention to make representations as Ward Councillor were 
received.

4. Minutes of the Meetings held on 7 October 2014

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 October 2014 were approved as a correct record.

5.    Development Control and Enforcement Matters

5.1 14/01303/FUL – Land to the Rear of 26 to 30 Vergette Street, Eastfield, 
Peterborough

The planning application was for the erection of a two bed dwelling and associated 
parking on the land to the rear of 26 to 30 Vergette Street, Eastfield. The application 
was part retrospective.

The main considerations were:
 The principle of the proposed dwelling
 The impact of the development upon the character and appearance of the 

immediate locality

3



 Highway safety implications
 The impact of the proposals upon the amenities of the occupiers of the 

adjacent dwellings

It was officer’s recommendation that planning permission be granted, subject to the 
conditions set out in the report.

The Head of Development and Construction provided an overview of the application and 
raised the following key points:

 A previous incarnation of the application, for two flats over three floors, had been 
refused on the grounds of design, access, highways and neighbour amenity.

 The proposal now before Committee included windows, sills and brickworks that 
tied in with the surrounding area. The development also provided nine car 
parking spaces.

 The site had approved planning permission for three car parking spaces off the 
street, which required cars to reverse directly into the road. It was considered 
that the proposed access would be an improvement on this situation and, as 
such, a five metre wide access was believed to be sufficient. 

 Highways were concerned about visibility surrounding the site access and had 
put forward several conditions in the update report. Officers were happy to 
include these conditions in the recommendation.

Councillor Peach, Ward Councillor, addressed the Committee and responded to 
questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:

 The site in question was previously a garage and garden space. There was no 
other open space on the street. 

 The parking provided would be insufficient for existing properties. 
 Large trees had already been removed from the site. 
 The proposal would have been classed as a House of Multiple Occupation 

(HMO) if it had not been restricted to two stories. 
 The surrounding area was largely rented with prevalent anti-social behaviour and 

recent violence. 
 The road was one of the narrowest in the Peterborough district.
 Many residents objected, as did the MP. Councillor Peach was sure that the 

police and fire departments had concerns too.

Councillor Shearman, Ward Councillor, addressed the Committee and responded to 
questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:

 The proposal before Committee was vastly different to the application previously 
refused. 

 The development would provide for a modest family home and was a sensitive 
and consistent in-fill.

 A single house would complement the surrounding area and would provide off 
street parking. The development did not constitute an HMO.

 The upgrades proposed for the car park would reduce noise and allow cars to 
leave the site in forward gear.

 Residents had spoken to Councillor Shearman is support of the application, 
however questioned whether conditions could be added in relation to ensuring 
residents used the rear car park and not an on street permit, and whether it was 
possible to restrict the alteration of the property into two flats.

John Dickie, Agent, addressed the Committee in support of the application and 
responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:

  A highways audit had been undertaken on the proposal site. The development 

4



would remove on street parking and improve the situation of cars reversing onto 
the road. As such the highway audit concluded that the proposal would improve 
on the current situation.

 The substandard residential amenity problems identified within the previous 
application had been addressed.

 The reference made to the removal of trees from the site had occurred before 
the applicant owned it.

 The objections raised by the MP with regard to the proposal being an HMO and 
lacking in aesthetic value were incorrect. The proposal was not an HMO and had 
been simply and carefully designed to fit in with the local vernacular.

 Mr Dickie was not familiar with any police concerns regarding the site.

The Head of Development and Construction advised that the proposal was not a HMO 
as defined within planning. The change of use of a property to a small scale HMO (a 
single property housing up to sic unrelated individuals) was included within permitted 
development rights. The Committee had the power to remove this permitted 
development right through condition and require any change of use to be applied for.

Conditions could not be added in relation to use of the car park, as this would be 
unenforceable. If the development were to be changed into two flats, this would require 
separate planning permission.

The Committee discussed the local opinion of the development and it was clarified that 
no letters of support had been received, several comments had indicated that the 
proposal was an improvement on previous schemes. The Committee raised concerns in 
relation to the parking space adjacent to the site access and whether this could be 
decreased to one space instead of two. The Head of Development and Construction 
advised that the applicant could be requested to commence a traffic regulation order 
and meet the costs involved.

Discussion was had regarding the in-filling nature of the development and whether the 
proposal would improve the street scene or remove necessary open space.

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, as per 
officer recommendation, with the addition of the conditions recommended by Highways, 
the removal of the permitted development rights for change of use to a small scale 
House of Multiple Occupation and to encourage the applicant to apply for a traffic 
regulation order. The motion was carried, nine voting in favour and one voting against.

RESOLVED: (nine voted in favour, one voted against) that planning permission is 
GRANTED subject to the conditions set out in the reports, with the addition of the 
conditions recommended by Highways, the removal of the permitted development rights 
for change of use to a small scale House of Multiple Occupation and to encourage the 
applicant to apply for a traffic regulation order.

Reasons for the decision

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal was acceptable having 
been assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against 
relevant policies of the development plan and specifically:

- The design of the dwelling had taken into account the local vernacular and would 
have a positive impact upon the character and appearance of the immediate 
residential area in accordance with policy PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies 

5



DPD.
- The care park would result in less cars having to park within the public highway to the 

benefit of the residents of the locality in accordance with policy PP12 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

- The access to Bedford Street was considered to acceptable due to the expected low 
vehicle speeds of vehicles exiting the car park and the pedestrian to vehicles splays 
that could be met in full, in accordance with policy PP12 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD. It was also considered to be an improvement on the 
previous parking arrangements.

- The outdoor amenity to be provided for the occupiers of nos. 24 – 26A Vergette 
Street were an improvement to the very small provisions at present in accordance 
with policy PP4 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

- The rear garden proposed for the new dwelling and that to be retained for the 
existing dwelling at no. 30 Vergette Street were adequate in accordance with policy 
PP4 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

5.2 14/01566/FUL – Land to the South of Oakdale Avenue, Stanground, Peterborough

The planning application was for the erection of 33 dwellings and the associated access 
on the land to the south of Oakdale Avenue, Stanground. 

The main considerations were:
 Principle of development
 Connections to other developments within the urban design
 Layout, design and amenity provision
 Highway safety and parking
 Contamination
 Archaeology
 Drainage
 Developer contributions

It was officer’s recommendation that planning permission be granted, subject to the 
signing of a legal agreement and the conditions set out in the report.

The Head of Development and Construction provided an overview of the application and 
raised the following key points:

 The proposal was contrary to policy in three ways.
 The development site was allocated for employment use. It was considered 

acceptable for residential development as the site comprised less that 0.5% of 
the employment use allocation and, as such, its loss would not be of significant 
detriment.

 The proposal would not provide any affordable housing contribution. £200,000 of 
the Section 106 funding would instead contribute to the building of a sports 
pavilion, which had been identified as a high priority. The entire of the Cardea 
scheme had already provided 251 units of affordable housing.

 The site did not make provision for any open space, however the site was 
adjacent to a play area. It was considered that there was no merit in requesting 
further additional open space be provided.

The Committee discussed their concerns regarding the lack of affordable housing. The 
Head of Development and Construction clarified that £200,000 that would have been 
allocated by the Council to affordable housing provision, would now be allocated to the 
provision of a sports pavilion. As such, the same level of contribution would be made by 
the applicant, however the priorities for its use had been differently evaluated.

6



The Committee were satisfied with the development proposals and were content that 
where departures from Council policy occurred, it was not to significant detriment.

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, as per 
officer recommendation. The motion was carried, nine voting in favour, one abstaining 
from voting.

RESOLVED: (nine voted in favour, one abstained from voting) that planning permission 
is GRANTED subject to the signing of a LEGAL AGREEMENT and the conditions set 
out in the reports.

Reasons for the decision

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal was acceptable having 
been assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against 
relevant policies of the development plan and specifically:

‒ whilst the proposal would result in the loss of an allocated employment site, as set 
out in Policy SA9.2 of the Peterborough Site Allocations DPD (2012), the most up-
to-date monitoring report identifies that the loss of 1.2 hectares would still ensure an 
adequate supply of land to meet the plan-period, in accordance with Policy CS3 of 
the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011);

‒ the application site was considered an appropriate location for residential 
development which would provide good connections to the wider South Stanground 
Urban Extension, in accordance with Policies CS1 and CS16 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy DPD (2011);

‒ the layout and design of the proposal would provide an acceptable quality of public 
realm which would mirror the existing wider development of Cardea, in accordance 
with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP2 of 
the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

‒ the proposal would afford an acceptable level of amenity for future occupants, in 
accordance with Policy PP4 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

‒ the proposed layout would provide safe access for all users and adequate parking 
provision would be provided for occupants, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

‒ subject to appropriate remediation, the site would not pose any unacceptable risk to 
human health, in accordance with paragraph 121 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2012) and Policy PP20 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD 
(2012);

‒ the site had already been subject to archaeological evaluation and owing to the 
presence of building previously in situ, it was considered that there is little potential 
for undiscovered remains, in accordance with paragraph 128 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2012), Policy CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011) and Policy PP17 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

‒ the proposed drainage strategy would accord with that which has been approved for 
the wider western half of the Cardea development and the proposal would not be at 
unacceptable risk from flooding, in accordance with paragraph 100 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2012) and Policy CS22 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011);

‒ the Applicant has agreed to enter into a Section 106 legal agreement to secure a 
financial contribution towards the infrastructure demands generated by the 
proposal, in accordance with Policies CS12 and CS13 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011) and the Peterborough Planning Obligations Implementation 

7



Scheme SPD (2010).  

6. Application to Register Land at Longthorpe Playing Field as a Town and Village 
Green under the Commons Act 2006

The Committee received a report which informed them of an application received to 
register land at Longthorpe playing field as a town or village green.

It was officer’s recommendation that the Committee approve the appointment of an 
Independent Inspector to advise the Council in respect of the application to register 
Longthorpe field as a town and village green, to hold a public inquiry into the application 
and to make recommendations to the Council as to its determination.

The Planning and Highways Lawyer provided an overview of the application and raised 
the following key points:

 Copies of the application received to register land as a town or village green 
were available, as it had not been included in the agenda. A summary of the 
application had been provided in the report.

 Council was required to determine the application. As the Council was the land 
owner, it was considered more appropriate for an Independent Investigator to 
consider the application.

 Two additional representations had been received, including an email from the 
applicant supporting the appointment of an Independent Investigator however 
suggesting a proviso for relevant parties to undertake discussion prior to any 
formal process commencing.

 It was advised that such discussions had already been held and had been 
unsuccessful. 

 If an Independent Investigator was appointed, the process could be halted if a 
compromise was reached between parties at any time.

Keith Markham, Peter Larke and Brian White, Headteacher, addressed the Committee 
and responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted 
included:

 There were disputes of fact between the parties involved which could only be 
resolved by an Independent Inspector. The appointment of such a person was 
supported.

 A compromise could be reached, however it was not believed a proviso as 
suggested by the applicant was appropriate.

 Public safety was a significant issue within the application. Children playing on 
an open field were at risk from dogs. The current situation was not safe, but 
tolerated. 

 The fencing proposed by the school was sensible and would include a gate so 
use by the community could continue out of school hours. 

 Splitting the field in half, as had been suggested, was not a practical solution.
 The application was not reflective of the neighbourhood, as such significant 

objection had been registered.
 The field was not known as Longthorpe Field, but as Longthorpe Primary School 

Field.

David Leeham and Darren Elding, addressed the Committee and responded to 
questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:

  A petition against the erection of fencing on the field had been signed by 150 
residents and the field was used by children within the local community.

 Statements had been gathered establishing the use of the field as a common for 

8



the past 20 years.
 The objections submitted did not address the evidence within the application.
 The 2013 Ofsted report had concluded that the safety of the school was 

acceptable. 
 While the appointment of an Independent Inspector was not objected to in 

principle, there was not considered to be sufficient objection to the application to 
justify such a use of Council resource. 

 It would be more appropriate to appoint a suitable individual to facilitate 
negotiations between parties to achieve a satisfactory compromise.

 The site was large enough to accommodate the school and the local community. 
Depriving local children of the use of the field was not acceptable.

The Planning and Highways Lawyer made clear to the Committee that the 
recommendation before them was to appoint an Independent Inspector to advise the 
Council in respect of the application and no other matter could be considered by the 
Committee. It was set out in the report that the costs for this were within existing 
budgets.

The Committee discussed the officer report and noted that although a compromise 
between parties would be the ideal solution, as a result of the diversity of opinion and 
the Council’s position as land owner, the appointment of an Independent Inspector was 
the most appropriate action.

It was noted that Councillor Hiller abstained from voting.

RESOLVED: that the Committee approve the appointment of an Independent Inspector 
to advise the Council in respect of the application to register Longthorpe field as a town 
and village green, to hold a public inquiry into the application and to make 
recommendations to the Council as to its determination.

Reasons for the decision

It was a statutory requirement that the Commons Registration Authority must determine 
whether a village green has come into existence as matter of law. 

The Committee was entitled under its Terms of Reference No: 2.5.3.4 to determine the 
application without recourse to a Public Inquiry, however where there were disputes of 
fact or the Commons Registration Authority was landowner it was usually recommended 
that an Inquiry was held to test the evidence and ensure impartiality.

Chairman
1.30pm – 2:50pm

9



This page is intentionally left blank



11



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning and EP Committee 2 December 2014 Item 2

Application Ref: 14/01780/FUL 

Proposal: Proposed new cottage style dwelling with detached double garage

Site: 55 Wisbech Road, Thorney, Peterborough, PE6 0SA
Applicant: Mr Marcus Butcher

Agent: Mr Tony Fitzjohn, T F Designs

Referred by: Councillor D Sanders and Thorney Parish Council 
Reason: Harm to the character and built form of the surrounding area, loss of trees 

and concerns regarding surface water flooding 

Site visit: 06.11.2014

Case officer: Miss Louise Lovegrove
Telephone No. 01733 454439
E-Mail: louise.lovegrove@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to the signing of a LEGAL AGREEMENT and relevant 
conditions  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and Surroundings
The application site lies to the south of Wisbech Road and comprises the side garden area to an 
existing single storey residential dwelling (No.55). The curtilage of the host dwellinghouse is of 
substantial area, with mature trees and hedging forming the front boundary along the public 
highway. The existing bungalow is of 1950s design with a detached garage set forward of the 
principal elevation. Parking is provided within the curtilage of the site within this garage and on a 
substantive area of gravelled driveway.

To the east of the application site is No.55A Wisbech Road, itself a modern residential dwelling 
located on land which formerly comprised the garden of No.55.  This dwelling was constructed 
under application reference 99/00835/FUL and comprises a two storey detached dwelling with 
detached double garage to the front.  To the rear of the site is a large detached residential dwelling 
known as Pond Acre.  

The surrounding area is characterised by large dwellings set within large plots of substantial 
curtilage, set back from the public highway. On the opposite side of Wisbech Road are a terrace of 
Duke of Bedford Cottages, the density and design of which are in complete contrast to the 
character of the southern side of Wisbech Road. Whilst the application site is not in itself part of the 
identified Thorney Conservation Area, it does lie immediately adjacent. 

Proposal
The application seeks planning permission for the construction of a new two storey residential 
dwelling with detached double garage to the front.  The proposal also includes the creation of a 
new vehicular access from Wisbech Road.  

The scheme has been revised following refusal of planning application references 13/01207/FUL 
and 14/00214/FUL which sought planning permission for the construction of a single storey 
residential dwelling on the site.

1

13



2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
99/00835/FUL Erection of house and garage (currently 

No.55A)
Permitted 15/09/1999

13/01207/FUL Erection of a bungalow Refused 10/10/2013

14/00214/FUL Construction of bungalow Refused 04/04/2014

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

Section 72 - General duty as respects conservation areas in exercise of planning functions. 
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the Conservation Area or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses.

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Section 7 - Good Design 
Development should add to the overall quality of the area; establish a strong sense of place; 
optimise the site potential; create and sustain an appropriate mix of uses; support local facilities 
and transport networks; respond to local character and history while not discouraging appropriate 
innovation; create safe and accessible environments which are visually attractive as a result of 
good architecture and appropriate landscaping. Planning permission should be refused for 
development of poor design.

Section 10 - Development and Flood Risk 
New development should be planned to avoid increased vulnerability to the impacts of climate 
change. Inappropriate development in areas of flood risk should be avoided by directing it away 
from areas at higher risk. Where development is necessary it shall be made safe without 
increasing flood risk elsewhere. Applications should be supported as appropriate by a site-specific 
Flood Risk Assessment, a Sequential Test and, if required, the Exception Test.

Section 12 - Conservation of Heritage Assets 
Account should be taken of the desirability of sustaining/enhancing heritage assets; the positive 
contribution that they can make to sustainable communities including economic viability; and the 
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.  When considering the impact of a new development great weight should be given 
to the asset’s conservation.  

Planning permission should be refused for development which would lead to substantial harm to or 
total loss of significance unless this is necessary to achieve public benefits that outweigh the 
harm/loss.  In such cases all reasonable steps should be taken to ensure the new development will 
proceed after the harm/ loss has occurred.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS01 - Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside 
The location/ scale of new development should accord with the settlement hierarchy. Development 

2

14



in the countryside will be permitted only where key criteria are met.

CS10 - Environment Capital 
Development should make a clear contribution towards the Council’s aspiration to become 
Environment Capital of the UK.

CS12 - Infrastructure 
Permission will only be granted where there is, or will be via mitigation measures, sufficient 
infrastructure capacity to support the impacts of the development.

CS13 - Development Contributions to Infrastructure Provision 
Contributions should be secured in accordance with the Planning Obligations Implementation 
Scheme SPD (POIS).

CS14 - Transport 
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for 
residents.

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

CS17 - The Historic Environment 
Development should protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment including non-
scheduled nationally important features and buildings of local importance.

CS22 - Flood Risk 
Development in Flood Zones 2 and 3 will only be permitted if specific criteria are met. Sustainable 
drainage systems should be used where appropriate.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP04 - Amenity Provision in New Residential Development 
Proposals for new residential development should be designed and located to ensure that they 
provide for the needs of the future residents.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.
PP16 - The Landscaping and Biodiversity Implications of Development 

3

15



Permission will only be granted for development which makes provision for the retention of trees 
and natural features which contribute significantly to the local landscape or biodiversity.

PP17 - Heritage Assets 
Development which would affect a heritage asset will be required to preserve and enhance the 
significance of the asset or its setting.  Development which would have detrimental impact will be 
refused unless there are overriding public benefits.

Peterborough Design and Development in Selected Villages SPD (2011)

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010
Paragraphs 203-205 of the National Planning Policy Framework: Planning Conditions and 
Obligations:

Requests for planning obligations whether CIL is in place or not, are only lawful where they meet 
the following tests:-

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
(b) directly related to the development; and 
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

In addition obligations should be:
(i) relevant to planning;
(ii) reasonable in all other respects.

Planning permissions may not be bought or sold. Unacceptable development cannot be permitted 
because of benefits/inducements offered by a developer which are not necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms. Neither can obligations be used purely as a means of 
securing for the local community a share in the profits of development.

4 Consultations/Representations

Archaeological Officer (14.10.14)
No objections – Evaluation undertaken in 2003 at No.53 Wisbech Road did not produce any 
evidence of past activity and the site lies outside the historic core of the settlement.  As such, the 
site has low archaeological potential and the proposal entails limited ground impact.  On this basis, 
there is no need to secure a programme of archaeological work.  

Education & Childrens Dept - Planning & Development 
No comments received.

Transport & Engineering Services (28.10.14)
No objections - The access to the proposed dwelling should meet the carriageway at a 
perpendicular angle and comprise a simple dropped kerb crossing of a width of at least 3.5 metres.  
Vehicle-to-vehicle visibility from the access is acceptable however 2 metre x 2 metre vehicle-to-
pedestrian splays shall be required and this will involve relocation of the access eastwards. The 
dimensions of the proposed garage do not meet our minimum internal dimensions however there is 
sufficient space within the site to accommodate two parking spaces with adequate turning.

Section 106 Minor Group (10.10.14)
A S106 contribution of £6,000 is sought for the proposed new dwelling plus a 2% monitoring fee of 
£120.

Cambridgeshire Fire & Rescue Service 
No comments received.

Thorney Parish Council (17.10.14)
Objection - Regardless of the redesign, the new dwelling is still being 'shoehorned' into the site and 

4

16



this cramped siting would be out of keeping with the immediate area which is characterised by 
detached dwellings within spacious curtilages.  With the recent reconfiguration of the access to the 
adjacent property to the west, we are now concerned about any further entrances being permitted.  
We do not understand how Thorney being a Key Service Centre has any impact on the validity of 
this application.  We are not opposed to development in the village but this project fails to respect 
its immediate context.  We note that the plot is subject to waterlogging and there is evidence within 
the vicinity.  There is no explanation of how this will be addressed.  As the proposed building is of 
greater height than the previous applications, we are concerned that it will be even more intrusive 
as viewed from Wisbech Road.  We do not feel that this scheme has overcome previous reasons 
for refusal and are of the opinion that this plot is not suitable for further residential development.

Landscape Officer (30.10.14)
No objections – Whilst the tree survey does not appear to be completely accurate, assessment can 
be made of the proposal in terms of impact upon existing trees.  The proposal will result in the loss 
of three trees to the rear of the site (despite only two being shown on the submitted plans) 
however, subject to a condition, protection measures can be secured in respect of the trees/hedge 
to the front of the site which is within the Conservation Area.  There are no objections in principle to 
the loss of the trees to the rear of the site.  

Conservation Officer (12.11.14)
No objections - The landscape frontage lies within the Conservation Area and was included owing 
to the positive contribution made.  The landscape impact is complimented by mature trees opposite 
the site on the bend of the road.  It is noted that no trees are proposed for removal within the 
frontage landscape and those trees which would be removed are outside the Conservation Area.  
The proposed access would involve the loss of a section of hedge which is regretted, however it 
would be close to the existing access of No.55 and as such, there will remain a continuous section 
of hedge to the east.  The access to Wisbech Road will be noticeable however the hedge in its 
entirety is not controlled and could be removed without permission.  The revised design of the 
building will have limited visual impact on views from Wisbech Road and the Conservation Area 
and as such, the proposed work would not have an adverse impact on the character and 
appearance of the heritage asset.  

North Level District Internal Drainage Board (22.10.14)
No objections - The Board has assisted in the construction of a land drain to take the surface water 
from the garden of No.55 at the time of construction of No.55A.  This pipeline must be found and 
retained and the pipeline should be extended to reach the near boundary to serve both No.55 and 
the proposed new plot.

Waste Management 
No comments received.

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 8
Total number of responses: 3
Total number of objections: 2
Total number in support: 0

One objection has been received from the owner/occupant of No.55A Wisbech Road on the 
following grounds: 
 At present, the surrounding properties are well-spaced on large plots.  The proposal would be 

only 970mm from my boundary and this will seriously impact on the character of the area and 
the lifestyle and privacy that I currently enjoy.  The size of the proposed development is not in 
keeping with the present character of this part of Thorney.  

 The submitted accompanying 'Planning, Heritage, Design and Access Statement' argues that 
infilling has already taken place within the village.  The level and closeness of the referenced 
properties cannot be compared to the application site.

5

17



 The position of the proposed building is directly on an area prone to historic flooding.  We have 
taken significant measures to reduce the risk of flooding on our site by construction a new 
culvert and outlet, piped in part of the drain.  New lengths of pipe were also put in to assist the 
drainage of No.55 to solve a recurring problem of flooding.  I am very surprised that no 
mention was given to this in the original application.  Why are these known problems not being 
advised in the application process?  Perhaps the plot has been sold subject to planning 
permission and highlighting the issue of flooding would put off potential purchasers?  I can 
only alert you to these issues however I will vigorously pursue financial compensation should 
any flood damage occur to my property.  

 It is very difficult to assess the impact of the proposed on the mature trees as the submitted 
Tree location plan does not show the current proposed layout.  I request that the Landscape 
Officer be advised of this error and that due consideration is given to the location of the Oak 
tree (T1).  The protection line is now within the layout of the proposed building and this would 
also directly conflict with the canopy.  

 I also request that due consideration be given to the effect that any removal of mature trees 
would have on the foul drainage system (septic tank) of my property.  

 The removal of mature trees along my boundary will significantly change the character of the 
surrounding area and views from my home.  Their removal will significantly reduce my wife's 
enjoyment of her garden.  Overlooking will also result and the attached sketches (Appendix A) 
demonstrate this.  

 What impact will the removal of the trees have on the wildlife of the area?
 The new proposal would diminish the outlook and daylight to/from the neighbouring property 

(No.55) even further than the original applications.  Given the orientation of the sun and the 
two storey height, I fail to see why the applicant can consider this a satisfactory solution.  

 The applicant has been systematically reducing the hedgerow and tree line in anticipation of 
this application.  The permitted, individually applied for, notices 13/01571/CTR and 
14/00007/CTR refer to the removal of trees on or about the road frontage.  We have taken 
great car to preserve and enhance our own laurel hedge and I would urge your department to 
consider the planning control of future access points to help protect the character of this 
historic village.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main considerations are:
 Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area
 Landscape implications and the impact upon Thorney Conservation Area
 Neighbour amenity
 Amenity provision for future occupants
 Parking, access and highway implications
 Flood risk 
 Developer contributions

a) Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area
The previous proposals under application references 13/01207/FUL and 14/00214/FUL sought 
the construction of a single storey dwelling which was of a design which occupied a large 
footprint and filled the width of the application site.  These two proposals were refused by 
officers on the basis of cramped form of development within the plot which failed to respect 
and reflect the established character and built form of the locality, appearing unduly 
incongruous elements within the streetscene.  

The revised proposal has sought to overcome this concern by reducing the footprint of the 
proposal and increase its height to 1 1/2 storeys.  The proposal would now be sited 4 metres 
from the shared boundary with No.55 Wisbech Road and almost 2 metres from the boundary 
with No.55A, with the principal building line mirroring that of No.55A.  Further, the height of the 
proposed dwelling would create a stepped appearance to the ridges within the streetscene, 
stepped from single storey at No.55 to two storeys at No.55A. It is considered that, whilst the 

6

18



proposal still represents infill between the two neighbouring dwellings, the spacing of the 
development is more appropriate and would not appear cramped or overdeveloped.  

It is noted that the objections received from Thorney Parish Council and the owner/occupant of 
No.55A Wisbech Road include concerns with regards to infilling of the plot and the relationship 
of this to the established character of the area.  Whilst it is acknowledged that the general 
character in this locality is of large detached dwellings within large spacious plots, it is felt that 
the proposal would not appear an incongruous or alien element.  The reduced footprint of the 
proposal combined with the separation proposed would respect the built form of the locality to 
an adequate level so as to not result in unacceptable harm.

On this basis, it is considered that the proposal would not result in unacceptable harm to the 
character, appearance or visual amenity of the surrounding area and is therefore in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011), Policy PP2 of 
the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012) and the Peterborough Design and 
Development in Selected Villages SPD (2011

b) Landscape implications and the impact upon Thorney Conservation Area
The proposed scheme would result in the introduction of a new vehicular access from Wisbech 
Road, within a stretch of existing hedging and mature trees which is identified in Policy PP17 
of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012) as a protected tree/hedged frontage.  This 
vehicular access itself would not result in the loss of any trees however some of the hedging 
would be lost.  The City Council's Conservation Officer has not raised any objections to this 
however it did form a reason for refusal of the previous two planning applications on the site.  
Whilst it is accepted that puncturing this hedgerow would disrupt a verdant frontage to the site 
and result in some level of harm to the setting of the Conservation Area, it is considered that 
the harm that would result would be less than substantial.  Furthermore, it is considered that 
the proposal would at least preserve the character of the heritage asset, as required by 
Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  Accordingly 
and on balance, owing to the acceptability of the proposal in all other respects, it is felt that this 
is not a reason for refusal which is of sufficient weight to be sustained if the decision were 
appealed.  

With regards to other trees within the site, the proposal seeks the loss of two trees to the rear - 
an early mature Oak and mature Willow.  The City Council's Landscape Officer has considered 
these and concluded that they offer little by way of amenity value in terms of the public realm 
and accordingly, their loss would not have an unacceptable impact upon the character or 
appearance of the surrounding area.  With regards to the third tree within the site (a mature 
Oak), this is proposed to be retained.  However, there are discrepancies between its siting on 
the submitted plans and it is likely that this tree would also be lost as a result of the proposed 
development.  Whilst this tree is a good quality specimen, the Landscape Officer has 
previously advised that all three of the trees offer low levels of amenity value owing to their 
limited views from the public realm.  It is noted that the adjacent neighbour to the east (No.55A 
Wisbech Road) has objected in terms of the loss of these trees however it should be noted 
that as they are not protected, they could be removed at any time.  Further, it has previously 
been advised that these trees are not of sufficient amenity value to meet the requirement for 
tree preservation.  Accordingly, it is not considered that the loss of these trees is 
unacceptable.  

It is proposed to ensure that the trees to the front of the site, which are sited within the 
Conservation Area, are protected through the development construction period.  Such 
protection can be secured through an appropriately worded condition.  

c) Neighbour amenity
Turning first to No.55 Wisbech Road, this dwelling has a number of windows serving primary 
habitable rooms within the east facing elevation, fronting on to the application site.  The 
proposed dwelling would be sited 4 metres from the shared boundary with the host dwelling.  

7

19



Whilst the orientation of the proposed dwelling (to the east) and its 1 1/2 storey height would 
have some level of overbearing impact to these primary habitable rooms, it is considered that 
the separation distance of 6 metres is adequate so as to prevent an unacceptable level of 
impact to the occupants of this neighbouring dwelling.  

With regards to the neighbouring dwelling to the east, No.55A Wisbech Road, the principal 
elevation of the proposed dwelling would be sited in line with this neighbouring dwelling.  As 
such, the proposal would not result in any unacceptable impact upon the primary habitable 
windows to the front of No.55A.  To the rear, the proposal would introduce a single storey 
projecting element which would extend approximately 2.6 metres beyond the rear elevation of 
the neighbouring property.  This element would be sited approximately 2 metres from the 
shared boundary and it is not considered that this would result in any unduly dominant or 
overbearing impact.  However, the proposal would introduce first floor primary habitable 
windows to the area immediately adjacent to No.55A.  These windows would permit views into 
the garden area of the neighbouring dwelling.  However, the two closest first floor windows 
would serve secondary habitable rooms (both bathrooms) and therefore, these may readily be 
conditioned to be obscurely glazed and non-opening (below a height of 1.7 metres from floor 
level i.e. top hung fan lights).  In terms of the remaining first floor window, this would be sited 
10 metres from the shared boundary.  Only acute angled views would be possible to the 
immediately private (decked) garden area of No.55A and the single storey rear element of the 
proposal would be sited between limiting views even further.  With regards to the decked area 
used by the neighbouring occupant set further into their garden, this would be approximately 
16 metres from the proposed bedroom window and it is considered that this level of separation 
is adequate so as to not result in an unacceptable level of overlooking. 

On this basis, it is considered that the proposal would not result in unacceptable harm to the 
amenities of neighbouring occupants at both No.55 and No.55A Wisbech Road.  The proposal 
is therefore in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) 
and Policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012). 

d) Amenity provision for future occupants
It is considered that the revised proposal has been designed so as to afford an acceptable 
level of amenity for future occupants.  The proposed outdoor amenity space is of an adequate 
size to serve the dwelling proposed and all primary habitable windows would offer an 
acceptable outlook for occupants.  On this basis, the proposal is in accordance with Policy 
PP4 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

e) Parking, access and highway implications
The Local Highway Authority (LHA) has not raised any objections to the proposal but has 
requested the provision of revised information in respect of the proposed vehicular access 
both in terms of its width, and the provision of necessary vehicle-to-vehicle and vehicle-to-
pedestrian visibility splays.  This request is noted however the site can readily accommodate 
these requirements and as such, these could be secured by suitably worded conditions.  

With regards to the level of parking provision on site, it is noted that the LHA has identified that 
the proposed garage is of insufficient dimensions to accord with adopted parking standards.  
Whilst this is noted, there is more than adequate space within the site to accommodate the 
requisite two parking spaces whilst also allowing for the turning and manoeuvring within the 
curtilage to ensure vehicles can exit in a forward gear.  

On the basis of the above, the proposal would not result in any unacceptable danger to 
highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
(2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

f) Flood risk 
Whilst the application site does not lie within an area at greatest risk from flooding, it is noted 
that objections from the Parish Council and owner/occupant of No.55A Wisbech Road have 

8

20



raised concerns regard surface water flooding of the site.  The North Level District Internal 
Drainage Board has not raised any objections to the proposed dwelling but has commented 
regarding the need to find an existing surface water drainage pipeline serving No.55A and 
retain it, with the possibility of needing to extend this pipe to serve the original dwellinghouse 
(No.55).  The concerns are noted and measures to manage surface water drainage from the 
application site could reasonably be secured by condition.  On this basis, it is considered that 
the proposal would not result in any undue risk of surface water flooding, in accordance with 
paragraph 103 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012) and Policy CS22 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011).  

g) Developer contributions
In accordance with Policies CS12 and CS13 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011), 
all new development is required to make a financial contribution towards the infrastructure 
demands it generates.  The proposed dwelling, in accordance with the contributions set out 
within the Peterborough Planning Obligations Implementation Scheme SPD (2010), requires a 
financial contribution of £6,000 plus a 2% monitoring fee of £120.  The Applicant has agreed to 
enter in to a legal agreement to secure this financial contribution and this will be finalised prior 
to the granting of planning permission.

6 Conclusions

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically:
 the proposal would not result in any unacceptable impact upon the character, appearance or 

visual amenity of the surrounding area, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy DPD (2011), Policy PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012) and 
the Peterborough Design and Development in Selected Villages SPD (2011);

 whilst some harm would result to the character and setting of the Conservation Area as a 
result of the loss of a small section of the existing treed/hedged frontage, it is considered that 
on balance this harm is not of sufficient weight to be sustained as a reason for refusal and that 
the character of the heritage asset would be preserved, as required by Section 72 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990;

 the proposal would not result in the loss of any trees which are of significant heritage/visual 
amenity value, in accordance with Policy PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD 
(2012);

 the proposal would not result in an unacceptable level of impact to the amenities of 
neighbouring occupants, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 the proposal would afford future occupants an acceptable level of amenity and living 
standards, in accordance with Policy PP4 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 acceptable vehicular access can be gained to the site and adequate parking provided on-site 
so as to not represent a danger to highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 the proposal development would not be at unacceptable risk from or result in increased 
surface water flood risk elsewhere, in accordance with paragraph 103 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2012) and Policy CS22 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011); 
and

 the development has secured a financial contribution to meet the infrastructure demands 
generated, in accordance with Policies CS12 and CS13 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011).

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is GRANTED 
subject to the signing of a LEGAL AGREEMENT and the following conditions:

9

21



 

C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

 

C 2 No development other than groundworks and foundations shall take place until details of 
the following materials have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority:

- Walling
- Roofing
- Windows and doors
- Lintels and cills
- Rainwater goods

The details submitted for approval shall include the name of the manufacturer, the product 
type, colour (using BS4800) and reference number. The development shall not be carried 
out except in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 3 Notwithstanding the drawings hereby permitted and prior to the commencement of 
development, full details of a revised vehicular access from Wisbech Road shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The details shall 
include a simple dropped kerb crossing design, access width of no less than 3.5 metres 
and vehicle-to-pedestrian visibility splays measuring 2 metres x 2 metres (measured from 
and along the back edge of the public highway) to either side of the access.  The access 
shall be constructed in accordance with the approved details and prior to first occupation of 
the dwelling.  The visibility splays shall be provided prior to first use of the access and shall 
thereafter be kept free of any obstruction above a height of 600mm in perpetuity.  

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 4 Any gates to the vehicular access hereby permitted shall be set back no less than 5 metres 
from the back edge of the public highway.

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 5 No work shall take place on the site (including the stripping of soil, delivery of 
equipment/materials, creation of site accesses or positioning of site welfare buildings) until 
an Arboricultural Method Statement and/or Tree Protection Plan to BS5837:12 (Trees in 
Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction - Recommendations) has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The Statement/Plan shall 
include (but not be limited to):

10

22



- the location and specification of protective measures and appropriate ground protection 
measures within the Root Protection Areas of all retained trees;

- details of all Root Protection Area infringements during the demolition, construction and 
landscaping phases with details of how the impact will be minimised;

- details (including specification of the wearing surface) of 'no dig' constructions including 
phasing and key timings for arboricultural supervision;

- details of facilitation pruning;
- location for access, material storage, site office, mixing of cement, welfare facilities etc.;
- specification of landscaping prescriptions (including fencing/walls and changes in soil 

level) within the Root Protection Area of retained trees; and
- details of site meetings to take place between the City Council’s Tree Officer and the 

developer’s chosen arboriculturalist, including continued monitoring meetings/visits.  

The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed details/plans and prior to 
the commencement of any works on the site. 

Reason:  In order to preserve trees of visual amenity value, in accordance with Policy PP16 
of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

 

C 6 Notwithstanding the details hereby approved and prior to the commencement of 
development, full details of the hard landscaping of the site shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The details to be submitted shall 
include (not exclusively):

- Finished floor slab levels;
- Site levels including the provision of level access;
- All areas of hard surfacing; and
- Boundary treatments.

Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and the level 
access, hard surfaced areas and boundary treatments shall be installed prior to first 
occupation of the dwelling.

Reason:  In the interests of the visual amenity of the surrounding area and privacy for 
occupants, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) 
and Policies PP2 and PP4 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 7 Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme for the provision and 
implementation of surface water drainage shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The works/scheme shall be constructed and completed in 
accordance with the approved plans/specification at such time(s) as may be specified in the 
approved scheme. The following also needs to be submitted as part of any approved 
works/scheme:

- Details of ownership/ maintenance for the lifetime of the development including any 
drains within the site boundary that are not currently maintained by the North Level 
District Internal Drainage Board;

- Details of all elements of the proposed drainage system serving the new hard standing 
areas; and

- A survey identifying existing surface water drainage pipes and measures to connect to 
these where necessary.  

11

23



Reason:  To ensure that the development is not at unacceptable risk from and does not 
result increased surface water flood risk elsewhere, in accordance with Policy CS22 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011).  

 

C 8 Before the development hereby permitted is first occupied, the proposed first floor 
bathroom/en-suite windows to the southern elevation shall be obscure glazed to a minimum 
of Level 3 obscurity, and non-opening unless the parts of the window which can be opened 
are more than 1.7 metres above the floor of the room in which the window is installed.  
Those windows shall thereafter be retained as such in perpetuity.  

Reason: In order to protect and safeguard the amenities of the adjoining occupiers, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 9 The development hereby approved shall be constructed so that it achieves at least a 10% 
improvement on the Target Emission Rates set by the Building Regulations at the time of 
Building Regulations being approved for the development.

Reason: To accord with Policy CS10 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011).
 

C 10 Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 1 Class A of Schedule 2 of the Town & Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking and re-
enacting that Order with or without modification), no extensions shall be constructed other 
than those expressly authorised by any future planning permission. 

Reason: In order to protect the amenities of neighbouring occupants, in accordance with 
Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

If the required Section 106 legal agreement is not completed within a reasonable period, then the 
Committee delegates the issuing of a notice of refusal to the Director of Growth and Regeneration 
on the grounds that the development has failed to adequately mitigate its impacts.

Should the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule come into force prior to the 
completion of the Section 106 legal agreement, the development may be wholly liable to the CIL or 
the S106 legal agreement may be amended to exclude those items that could be funded by the 
CIL. Items that could be funded by the CIL will be listed on the Council’s Regulation 123 List in 
accordance with Regulation 123 of the CIL Regulations 2010.

A Regulation 123 List will be adopted by the Council on the same day as the Council’s CIL 
Charging Schedule. Currently, a Draft Regulation 123 List can be viewed on the CIL pages of the 
Council’s website.

Copy to Councillors Brown R and Sanders D

12

24



25



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning and EP Committee 18 November 2014                                                                Item 1

Application Ref: 14/01789/FUL 

Proposal: Filling in of ditch - part retrospective

Site: Land To The North Of 29, Maxey Road, Helpston, Peterborough
Applicant: Mr A Brotherton

Seagate Homes
Agent: Mr David Shaw

David Shaw

Referred by: Councillor D Over and Helpston Parish Council
Reason: Concern regarding surface water flooding and harm to the character and 

appearance of the surrounding area

Site visit: 09.09.2014

Case officer: Miss Louise Lovegrove
Telephone No. 01733 454439
E-Mail: louise.lovegrove@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and Surroundings
The application site is located at the edge of the village of Helpston, to the western side of Maxey 
Road.  The site is currently subject to the development of five large detached residential dwellings 
which were granted planning permission in December 2013 under application reference 
13/01069/FUL.  To the south of the site is No.29 Maxey Road with the public highway forming the 
eastern boundary.  Open countryside comprising arable fields extend to the north and west of the 
site with the East Coast railway line further to the north.  

There was previously a drainage ditch running along Maxey Road to the front of the development 
site, with drainage grips (small channels) from the public highway.  All mature shrubs and trees 
which were located along this frontage have been removed as was shown on the approved plans 
for the housing development.  A vehicular access serving the development intersects the frontage 
and former drainage ditch which has been filled in without the benefit of first obtaining either 
planning permission or Land Drainage Consent.  

Proposal
The application seeks planning permission for the in filling of the drainage ditch and alteration to 
the unauthorised works to create a Sustainable Drainage System (SUDs) by virtue of a swale.  
This swale comprises a shallow drainage ditch with perforated pipe below surrounded by pea 
shingle.  Given that part of the works have begun, the application is part-retrospective.

It should be noted that this application is a re-submission following an earlier withdrawn 
application.  This withdrawn application did not include the shallow drainage channel.  The current 
application has also been amended following discussions between the Applicant and City Council’s 
Principal Drainage Engineer.  The original scheme originally sought to install drainage channels 
(known as grips) from the public highway into the swale however these are not considered 
necessary and as such, have been removed from the scheme.  

1

27



Given that the application drawings have been revised, further public consultation has taken place.  
This consultation period does not expire until 25th November (post-publication of the Committee 
report) and as such, any additional representations will be provided in the Briefing Update Report.
  
2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
13/01069/FUL Construction of 5 x 5 bedroom dwellings 

with associated roadways, hard and soft 
landscaping

Permitted 10/12/2013

14/01409/FUL Filling in of ditch - Retrospective Withdrawn 26/09/2014

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Section 10 - Development and Flood Risk 
New development should be planned to avoid increased vulnerability to the impacts of climate 
change. Inappropriate development in areas of flood risk should be avoided by directing it away 
from areas at higher risk. Where development is necessary it shall be made safe without 
increasing flood risk elsewhere. Applications should be supported as appropriate by a site-specific 
Flood Risk Assessment, a Sequential Test and, if required, the Exception Test.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS14 - Transport 
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for 
residents.

CS21 - Biodiversity and Geological Conservation 
Development should conserve and enhance biodiversity/ geological interests unless no alternative 
sites are available and there are demonstrable reasons for the development.

CS22 - Flood Risk 
Development in Flood Zones 2 and 3 will only be permitted if specific criteria are met. Sustainable 
drainage systems should be used where appropriate.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

2

28



Peterborough Flood and Water Management SPD (2012)

Chapter 6 – Guidance on managing surface water drainage
This chapter is to assist the implementation of Policy CS22 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011).

Peterborough Design and Development in Selected Villages SPD (2011)

Help 7 – Landscaping
New development should make provision for appropriate hard and soft landscaping; retention of 
existing hedgerows/mature trees; appropriate planting schemes; and amenity areas consistent with 
a rural village.  Edge of village developments should give high priority to protection and 
enhancement of external views into the village.  

Help 13 – Environment
Development proposals surrounding the perimeter of the village should enhance the landscape 
with open areas, native trees, hedgerows and shrubs to support wildlife.  

4 Consultations/Representations

Drainage Team (13.11.14)
No objections - Provided installation is in line with the details proposed on the submitted drawings 
then the highway shall drain as expected.  

Helpston Parish Council (04.11.14)
Objection - The second retrospective application was discussed with Simon Machen and Lee 
Collins on 22nd September 2014 and they are aware of our continued despair at developers, 
having received permission from City to do one thing, then do another and seek retrospective 
approval. 
In the case of these plots, the developer has already filled the drainage ditch and piped it, possibly 
inadequately (we cannot see the underground works done). This took no account of the purpose of 
the original ditch, which was to effect “land” drainage from the nearby roads and gullies. 
Fortunately, with City intervention, this application was withdrawn (ref. 14/01409/FUL).

It now seems that City officers have worked with the developer to produce this latest, third 
retrospective application to incorporate a “swale” type dip in the ditch area so that gully drainage 
from the road can occur. We believe that this represents a total “roll over” to the developer by the 
City when what was really wanted (and originally given permission) were the linear ponds 
(designer’s/architect’s euphemism for drainage ditches) as originally shown in the original plans.

We request that the City Council Planning Department refuse this application and insist that the 
developer restore the original drainage ditches as shown on the original plans and which have 
been proven historically to be essential in this area. We would further ask for this application (if not 
refused by officers) to go to committee and we request that Simon Machen and Lee Collins take 
note of our further concerns.

Welland and Deepings Internal Drainage Board (01.08.14)
The Drainage Board do not give consent retrospectively.  However, we are happy that the 
construction has been completed to a standard that would be accepted by the board.  Should a 
problem develop in the future where water does not drain satisfactorily, additional work may be 
required.  

3

29



Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 9
Total number of responses: 3
Total number of objections: 2
Total number in support: 1

One objection has been received from the occupants of No.32 Maxey Road on the following 
grounds:

 The ditch is the sole drainage facility for the lower portion of Maxey Road.  During a recent 
heavy period of rain, the road near to the level crossing was flooded to a depth of 200 - 
300mm (this was during a period after the ditch had been filled in).  

 When the Seagate Homes site is complete there will be a risk of further surface water running 
off onto Maxey Road.  Our property is directly opposite the access to this development and we 
are concerned about possible increased flood risk.  We are constantly being warned of the 
increased risk of severe weather in the future and to fill in this ditch would remove a valuable 
drainage option that has existed for many years.  

 The original planning application drawings showed the ditch as a water feature with stone 
bridge over.  Why has this been changed and has it been approved by the Planning 
Department? 

 There is also concern regarding the water that entered the ditch from higher up Maxey Road.

Councillor Hiller - I have no comments to make about the above part-retrospective application if 
PCC drainage officers and the relevant IDB are happy with the proposed changes from that which 
was originally given consent.

Councillor Over - I write to confirm my previous objections and support the Parish Council's 
views.  Previous comments relate to concern regarding flooding as the ditch carried away surface 
water.  Any trees planned on the filled ditch will eventually damage the pipes.  Ditches are a 
traditional feature in the area.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main considerations are:
 Drainage and surface water flood risk
 Impact upon visual amenity

a) Background
As detailed in Section 1 above, the application site forms the frontage to a small development 
of 5 large detached dwellings approved under application reference 13/01069/FUL.  As part of 
this permission, the application site (a drainage ditch running parallel to the public highway of 
Maxey Road) was due to be retained as a linear pond feature, with the vehicular access 
running across by way of a small bridge feature.  In February 2014, the Developer Seagate 
Homes filled in this drainage ditch without the benefit of either planning permission or Land 
Drainage Consent.  Included as part of the in-filling works was the installation of a perforated 
drainage pipe surrounded by pea shingle.  This was inspected by the Internal Drainage Board 
who commented that the works had been undertaken to an acceptable standard albeit no 
consent could be issued as there is no provision for retrospective approval to be given within 
the Land Drainage Act. 

A retrospective planning application was later submitted for the works undertaken (reference 
14/01409/FUL) however objections were received from the City Council's Drainage Engineer, 
along with Parish and Ward Councillors.  The objections related to the impact of the in-filling 
upon the surface water drainage capacity of the perforated pipe and the knock-on impact that 
this would have upon surface water drainage of the public highway.  

4

30



A meeting was held between Seagate Homes, the Drainage Engineer and Planning Officer to 
discuss the above concerns and a revised scheme was agreed to address the concerns.  
Accordingly, application reference 14/01409/FUL was withdrawn and the current planning 
application submitted which seeks to amend the unauthorised works currently in situ on the 
site.  

b) Drainage and surface water flood risk
The current proposal seeks to retain the unauthorised perforated pipe surrounded by pea 
shingle but alter the groundworks associated with the in-filling by excavating some of the in-fill 
material to create a shallow drainage channel and ensure that the land is level with the 
adjacent public highway.  This would create a Sustainable Drainage System (SUD) known as 
a swale.  This proposed under-drained swale would provide an area of storage within the 
perforated pipe with an extra amount available within the swale (shallow channel) itself.  Whilst 
this would have a degree of lesser capacity than the original drainage ditch, the City Council's 
Drainage Engineer has confirmed that this would be minimal and not materially alter the ability 
or capacity of drainage for the adjacent public highway.  

Given that the ground level of the swale would be the same as the adjacent public highway, 
any surface water on the public highway would be able to drain away into the swale.  

It is noted that concern has been raised with regards to the increase in impermeable surface 
resulting from the associated development of 5 dwellings and the impact that this may have 
upon increased surface water run-off rates.  These concerns are noted however the proposed 
amendments to the drainage ditch would not significantly reduce the capacity to handle 
surface water run-off of the original ditch which itself was considered adequate to handle the 
run-off created by the adjacent development.  Furthermore, Officers are seeking an 
amendment to the adjacent development to alter the vehicular access to be constructed of a 
porous material to ensure that no additional run-off results.  This is to be secured through a 
separate discharge of condition application.  

In light of the above and the proposed amendments, it is considered that the proposal would 
not result in any unacceptable impact to the ability of the public highway to drain and there 
should be no increased risk of flooding to the surrounding area.  The proposal is therefore in 
accordance with paragraph 100 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012), Policy 
CS22 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Chapter 6 of the Peterborough 
Flood and Water Management SPD (2012).  

c) Impact upon visual amenity
It is noted that Councillor Over has expressed concern with regards to the loss of the drainage 
ditch which he considers to be a traditional feature of the locality.  The proposed amendments 
to the unauthorised works would result in a shallow swale in place of the previous ditch.  
Whilst this would not be to the same depth as previously, it would visually appear as a linear 
grassed channel and not materially differ from the previous ditch in situ.  It is considered that 
this would still retain the verdant frontage to the development and ensure that no unacceptable 
harm results to the visual amenity of the streetscene and surrounding area.  On this basis, the 
proposal is in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011), 
Policy PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012) and Policies Help 7 and Help 
13 of the Peterborough Design and Development in Selected Villages SPD (2011).

6 Conclusions

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically:

 the proposed amendment to create a drainage swale would not unacceptably reduce the 
capacity to accommodate surface water run-off and the level of the land would allow for water 

5

31



to run-off from the public highway.  As such, the proposal would not result in any increased 
flood risk to either the public highway or surrounding area, in accordance with paragraph 100 
of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012), Policy CS22 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011) and Chapter 6 of the Peterborough Flood and Water Management SPD 
(2012); and

 the proposed amendments would not result in any unacceptable impact to the character, 
appearance or visual amenity of the surrounding area, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011), Policy PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies 
DPD (2012) and Policies Help 7 and Help 13 of the Peterborough Design and Development in 
Selected Villages SPD (2011).

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is GRANTED 
subject to the following condition:
 

C 1 The alterations hereby permitted shall be carried out within two months of the date of this 
permission and in accordance with the details shown on drawing numbers 3702-P02 
Revision B 'Consented/Proposed Site Layout (Ditch)' and 3702-P03 'Consented/Proposed 
Bridge and Fence Details'.  

Reason:  To ensure no unacceptable risk of surface water flooding results, in accordance 
with paragraph 100 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012), Policy CS22 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Chapter 6 of the Peterborough Flood and 
Water Management SPD (2012).

 

Copy to Councillor D E Over 
 

6

32



PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION COMMITTEE 2 DECEMBER 2014

AGENDA ITEM No. 6

20 NOVEMBER 2014 PUBLIC REPORT

Director: Simon Machen, Director of Growth and Regeneration
Contact Officer(s): Mike Freeman, Senior Planning Obligations Officer Tel. 453438

ADOPTION OF WORDING LEADING UP TO THE ADOPTION OF COMMUNITY 
INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY 

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Director of Growth and Regeneration Deadline date: N/A 

That a wording is inserted in all Committee reports during the lead up to the adoption of a Community 
Infrastructure Levy to prevent planning applications having to go through the Committee process 
twice.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Committee on behalf of the Director of Growth and 
Regeneration in order that a wording is added to all Committee reports during the period 
leading up to the adoption of a Community Infrastructure Levy.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 A number of changes to how developer contributions are collected are in process at the 
Council, this is being driven by legislative and statutory changes at the national level. The 
main thrust of these changes is through the adoption of a Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) which, once approved through independent examination and adopted by Council, will 
replace the current Peterborough Planning Obligations Implementation Scheme (POIS). 
This report reminds Councillors about CIL, and the timetable for adopting and implementing 
a CIL before April 2015.

3. TIMESCALE 

3.1 Councillors approved the submission of the Peterborough CIL Charging Schedule for 
independent examination at Full Council on 23 July 2014. The CIL Proposed Draft 
Charging Schedule sets out ‘£ rates per sq m’ for different development types that are 
liable to pay the charge (usually all new dwellings and most new floorspace over 100m2 for 
buildings which are normally occupied by persons).

3.2 The Council submitted its Draft CIL Charging Schedule to the Planning Inspectorate for 
examination in public on 24 October 2014. We are still waiting for a date for the hearing 
sessions but they are likely to take place in January 2015. The Council has a target date 
for adoption of CIL of 6 April 2015.

4. BACKGROUND INFORMATION

4.1 From April 2015 it will be unlawful for Local Authorities to pool contributions from more than 
5 planning obligations secured via Section 106 agreements for funding any single 

33



infrastructure project. In effect, this makes our current S106/POIS tariff-based system 
unlawful and a CIL will become the only available mechanism to pool funds.

4.2 CIL applies to planning permissions issued on or after the day it commences. This means 
we should have CIL systems in place to deal with applications that are in the pipeline 
before the commencement date. Essentially this means that, up to 3 months before CIL is 
adopted (or three months before 6 April 2014), we will need to be collecting information 
relevant to processing the CIL. 

4.3 Applications determined in this transitional period could be liable to POIS or CIL, depending 
on the date approval is issued (Applications approved before 6 April 2015 with be charged 
POIS as normal and applications approved after 6 April 2014 will be liable for CIL). In some 
circumstances applications will have approval pending the signature of a S.106 agreement. 
If in those cases the S.106 has not been signed, the application will not technically have 
planning permission and so will become CIL liable if it is not signed before 6 April 2014.

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 The Peterborough Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule Consultation closed on 12 
December 2012. This consultation related to the council's initial ideas on appropriate rates 
to charge on most types of new development in the area. 

Having taken into account comments received during the Preliminary Draft Charging 
Schedule consultation the Council published a further version of its CIL proposals, the CIL 
Draft Charging Schedule, on 18 August 2014. Consultation on the Peterborough CIL Draft 
Charging Schedule took place between 18 August 2014 and 15 September 2014.
 

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES

6.1 To prevent applications having to go through the Committee process twice a proposed 
wording will be included in all Committee reports until the adoption of CIL.

7. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1 Recommendation:

That the proposed wording in 7.2 is adopted by the Planning and Environmental Protection 
Committee 

7.2 “Recommendation:
[The Director of Growth and Regeneration] [The Planning and Environmental Protection 
Committee] recommends that planning permission is GRANTED subject to the following 
conditions and satisfactory completion of a Section 106 legal agreement.

If the required Section 106 legal agreement is not completed within a reasonable period, 
then the Committee delegates the issuing of a notice of refusal to the Director of Growth 
and Regeneration on the grounds that the development has failed to adequately mitigate its 
impacts.

Should the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule come into force prior to 
the completion of the Section 106 legal agreement, the development may be wholly liable 
to CIL or the S106 legal agreement may be amended to exclude those items that could be 
funded by the CIL. 

Items that could be funded by CIL will be listed on the Council’s Regulation 123 List in 
accordance with Regulation 123 of the CIL Regulations 2010.

A Regulation 123 List will be adopted by the Council on the same day as the Council’s CIL 
Charging Schedule. Currently, a Draft Regulation123 List can be viewed on the CIL pages 
of the Council’s website.”

34



7.3 Reasons for recommendations:

To prevent applications having to go through the Committee process twice.

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1  That the proposed wording is not included in all planning applications.

8.2 It is recommended that the proposed wording is approved to ensure a smooth transition of 
the Council’s approach to collecting developer contributions prior to the adoption of CIL.

9. IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Legal Implications

The adoption of the proposed wording will avoid additional workload as applications will not 
have to go through the Committee process twice

9.2 Financial Implications

There are no financial implications associated with the adoption of the proposed wording.

9.3 Cross-service Implications

The proposed wording will prevent delays in planning applications being determined.

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

10.1 Peterborough Community Infrastructure Levy Study, Peterborough CIL DCS Viability Study, 
Peterborough Integrated Development Programme, Peterborough Infrastructure Delivery 
Schedule, CIL Draft Charging Schedule, Peterborough Draft CIL Regulation 123 List, 
Peterborough Draft Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document.

35



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Meeting Held on 4 November 2014
	5.1 14/01780/FUL - 55 Wisbech Road, Thorney, Peterborough, PE6 0SA
	5.1 - 1401780FUL 55 Wisbech Road, Thorney

	5.2 14/01789/FUL - Land To The North Of 29 Maxey Road, Helpston, Peterborough
	5.2 - 1401789FUL Land to the North of 29 Maxey Road, Helpston

	6 CIL Update Report

